

See discussions, stats, and author profiles for this publication at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/281865351

# Multiple successional pathways in humanmodified tropical landscapes: New insights from forest succession, forest fragmentation and landscape ecology research

Article in Biological Reviews · October 2015

DOI: 10.1111/brv.12231

CITATIONS	READS
7	1,257

#### 10 authors, including:



**Miguel Martinez-Ramos** 

Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México

196 PUBLICATIONS 5,166 CITATIONS

SEE PROFILE



### Inara Leal

Federal University of Pernambuco 108 PUBLICATIONS 1,677 CITATIONS

SEE PROFILE



Natalia Norden Fundación Cedrela 29 PUBLICATIONS 676 CITATIONS

SEE PROFILE



Marcelo Tabarelli Federal University of Pernambuco 161 PUBLICATIONS 4,766 CITATIONS

SEE PROFILE

1

## BIOLOGICAL REVIEWS Biol. Rev. (2015), pp. 000–000. doi: 10.1111/brv.12231

# Multiple successional pathways in human-modified tropical landscapes: new insights from forest succession, forest fragmentation and landscape ecology research

Víctor Arroyo-Rodríguez<sup>1</sup>, Felipe P. L. Melo<sup>2,\*</sup>, Miguel Martínez-Ramos<sup>1</sup>, Frans Bongers<sup>3</sup>, Robin L. Chazdon<sup>4</sup>, Jorge A. Meave<sup>5</sup>, Natalia Norden<sup>6</sup>, Bráulio A. Santos<sup>7</sup>, Inara R. Leal<sup>2</sup> and Marcelo Tabarelli<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Instituto de Investigaciones en Ecosistemas y Sustentabilidad, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Antigua Carretera a Patzcuaro 8701, Ex-hacienda de San Jose de la Huerta, Morelia 58190, Michoacán Mexico

<sup>2</sup>Departamento de Botânica, Universidade Federal de Pernambuco, Av. Professor Morais Rego, 1235 - Cidade Universitária, Recife, Pernambuco 50670-901, Brazil

<sup>3</sup> Forest Ecology and Forest Management Group, Department of Environmental Sciences, Wageningen University, P. O. Box 47, 6700 AA Wageningen, The Netherlands

<sup>4</sup>Department of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology, University of Connecticut, 75 N. Eagleville Road, Unit 3043, Storrs, CT 06269-3043, U.S.A.

<sup>5</sup>Departamento de Ecología y Recursos Naturales, Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Av. Universidad 3000, Circuito Exterior S/N, Coyoacan, Mexico City 04510, Mexico

<sup>6</sup>Fundación Cedrela, Bogotá 111311, Colombia

<sup>7</sup>Departamento de Sistemática e Ecologia, Universidade Federal da Paraiba, Campus I, Cidade Universitária, João Pessoa, Paraiba 58051-900, Brazil

### ABSTRACT

Old-growth tropical forests are being extensively deforested and fragmented worldwide. Yet forest recovery through succession has led to an expansion of secondary forests in human-modified tropical landscapes (HMTLs). Secondary forests thus emerge as a potential repository for tropical biodiversity, and also as a source of essential ecosystem functions and services in HMTLs. Such critical roles are controversial, however, as they depend on successional, landscape and socio-economic dynamics, which can vary widely within and across landscapes and regions. Understanding the main drivers of successional pathways of disturbed tropical forests is critically needed for improving management, conservation, and restoration strategies. Here, we combine emerging knowledge from tropical forest succession, forest fragmentation and landscape ecology research to identify the main driving forces shaping successional pathways at different spatial scales. We also explore causal connections between land-use dynamics and the level of predictability of successional pathways, and examine potential implications of such connections to determine the importance of secondary forests for biodiversity conservation in HMTLs. We show that secondary succession (SS) in tropical landscapes is a multifactorial phenomenon affected by a myriad of forces operating at multiple spatio-temporal scales. SS is relatively fast and more predictable in recently modified landscapes and where well-preserved biodiversity-rich native forests are still present in the landscape. Yet the increasing variation in landscape spatial configuration and matrix heterogeneity in landscapes with intermediate levels of disturbance increases the uncertainty of successional pathways. In landscapes that have suffered extensive and intensive human disturbances, however, succession can be slow or arrested, with impoverished assemblages and reduced potential to deliver ecosystem functions and services. We conclude that: (i)succession must be examined using more comprehensive explanatory models, providing information about the forces affecting not only the presence but also the persistence of species and ecological groups, particularly of those taxa expected to be extirpated from HMTLs; (ii) SS research should integrate new aspects from forest fragmentation and

\* Address for correspondence (Tel/Fax: +55 81 21268944; E-mail: felipe.plmelo@ufpe.br).

landscape ecology research to address accurately the potential of secondary forests to serve as biodiversity repositories; and *(iii)* secondary forest stands, as a dynamic component of HMTLs, must be incorporated as key elements of conservation planning; i.e. secondary forest stands must be actively managed (e.g. using assisted forest restoration) according to conservation goals at broad spatial scales.

Key words: biodiversity conservation, ecosystem services, forest recovery, landscape structure, landscape restoration, land-use transformation.

#### CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	2
	(1) Purpose and structure of review	4
II.	Secondary forest dynamics in human-modified landscapes	4
	(1) Proximate and ultimate forces driving forest succession	5
	(2) Regenerating driving forces and plant life histories	6
	(3) Potential successional pathways in HMTLs	6
	(4) The (neglected) role of chronic human disturbances and its societal drivers	8
III.	The conservation importance of secondary forests	9
IV.	Conclusions	11
V.	Acknowledgements	11
VI.	References	12

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Rapid human population growth (8-10 billion by 2050; United Nations, 2011) and increasing demand for agricultural land have promoted land conversion from tropical forest landscapes to agricultural landscapes, and the last tracts of old-growth forests have been converted into archipelagos of forest remnants (Hansen et al., 2013). Yet nearly one-third of old-growth forests cleared in the Neotropics undergoes secondary succession (SS) annually (Aide & Grau, 2004; Aide et al., 2013), and there has been a global increase in secondary forest cover (0.25 million square kilometres of tropical forest gain between 2000 and 2012; Hansen et al., 2013). Secondary forests therefore represent a frequent or even dominant type of natural vegetation in many human-modified tropical landscapes (HMTLs; Wright & Muller-Landau, 2006; Chazdon et al., 2009a; Gardner et al., 2009), thus emerging as a potential repository for tropical biodiversity and a source of essential ecosystem functions and services (Barlow et al., 2007; Perfecto, Vandermeer & Wright, 2009; Melo et al., 2013; Ferraz et al., 2014; Gilroy et al., 2014b).

Although SS has been a key research topic in tropical ecology for nearly half a century (Bazzaz & Pickett, 1980; Finegan, 1984), the current scenario of rapid global land-use change has increased the interest in SS among ecologists and conservationists. Unfortunately, despite this research effort, the intermingled biophysical and societal factors and drivers that govern the probability of abandoned private lands experiencing SS are often complex and poorly understood (Lambin & Meyfroidt, 2011; Aide *et al.*, 2013; Ellis, 2013). Also, the role played by secondary forests in biodiversity conservation is not clear (Prach & Walker, 2011; Melo *et al.*, 2013; van Breugel *et al.*, 2013; Chazdon, 2014),

largely because it depends on successional pathways, i.e. on the particular series of temporal changes experienced by regenerating forest stands in vegetation composition and structure, community types, system states, and other parameters of populations and communities. While forest regeneration appears to proceed rapidly and accumulate species at high rates in some tropical forests (e.g. Letcher & Chazdon, 2009; Norden et al., 2009; Lebrija-Trejos et al., 2010a), other forests experience arrested regeneration (e.g. Schnitzer, Dalling & Carson, 2000; Mesquita et al., 2001; Suazo-Orduño et al., 2015) and retain impoverished assemblages (Corlett, 1992; Turner et al., 1994; Clark, 1996; Slocum et al., 2004; Tabarelli, Lopes & Peres, 2008). Understanding the factors that promote or arrest SS is therefore urgently needed to evaluate properly the potential conservation importance of secondary forests in HMTLs and to identify areas where restoration interventions are required.

Over the last few years, an increasing number of studies have monitored forest regeneration and successional processes over time, combining chronosequence and dynamic approaches (Chazdon et al., 2007; Lebrija-Trejos et al., 2010b; Norden et al., 2011, 2015; Moro et al., 2015; Rozendaal & Chazdon, 2015). These studies have repeatedly shown that even nearby abandoned fields with the same fallow age, soil type, and climate conditions do not necessarily follow a single and predictable route to the old-growth forest stage, but can follow multiple successional pathways (Chazdon et al., 2007; Norden et al., 2011, 2015; but see Terborgh, Foster & Núñez, 1996; Lebrija-Trejos et al., 2010a). Within the same landscape, some stands may show rapid regeneration rates and fairly smooth successional pathways, while others exhibit erratic pathways and/or slow regeneration rates (Norden et al., 2011, 2015; Cole, Bhagwat & Willis, 2014; Jakovac et al., 2015). A substantial fraction of



Fig. 1. Forest succession is influenced by a myriad of ultimate (indirect) and proximate (direct) variables operating simultaneously across multiple spatial scales, including the patch (a), landscape (b) and regional (c) scales. These variables can interact among scales (represented by arrows), potentially resulting in important synergistic outcomes that can alter forest regeneration. Within each spatial scale we show patterns and processes operating at different timescales. Although the 'landscape scale' may depend on the habitat requirements, behaviour and vagility of the focal organism, as well as on the ecological process of interest (Brennan et al., 2002), we use the term 'landscape' in a broad sense, to refer to a spatially heterogeneous land area (typically varying in size from hectares to several square kilometres) containing a mosaic of land cover patches (e.g. forest patches, agricultural lands, vegetation corridors, and human settlements) (Turner, 1989). There are also many different interpretations of the term 'region', but from an ecological point it can be defined by natural features such as ecosystems, biomes, drainage basins, mountain ranges and soil types, as well as by the socio-cultural context, and is typically larger than the landscape scale (above several square kilometres; Bailey, 1996).

such 'unexplained variation' may result from limited study designs rather than from natural stochasticity (Norden et al., 2011). For example, most studies on SS are performed at a local or stand-level spatial scale (e.g. Chazdon, 2003, 2008, 2014; Castro-Luna, Sosa & Castillo-Campos, 2007; Peña-Cuellar et al., 2012; Bonner, Schmidt & Shoo, 2013), and include fallow age as the main (or even the single) explanatory variable into the study models (reviewed by Pickett, Collins & Armesto, 1987; Guariguata & Ostertag, 2001; Chazdon, 2003, 2008, 2014; Lohbeck et al., 2015). Thus, they do not assess (nor control for) the effects of other key local, landscape, and regional variables that can shape successional pathways (Fig. 1).

In this context, although many ecological factors affecting animal and plant populations and communities may operate at local scales (e.g. habitat structure, resource availability, vegetation biomass) (e.g. Lohbeck et al., 2015), evidence from forest fragmentation and landscape ecology research have demonstrated the importance of examining patterns and processes at the landscape and regional scales (e.g. Dunning, Danielson & Pulliam, 1992; Ricklefs, 2004; Ewers & Didham, 2006; Lindenmayer et al., 2008; Tscharntke et al., 2012;

Fahrig, 2013; Villard & Metzger, 2014; Jakovac et al., 2015). For example, species' extinctions within secondary forest patches and the colonization of empty patches may be driven by patch size and isolation (MacArthur & Wilson, 1967; Hanski, 1999). Based on the 'habitat amount hypothesis' (Fahrig, 2013), however, the patch size and isolation effects are probably driven by one single factor - the total amount of habitat (forest cover in our case) in the 'local landscape' surrounding a secondary forest site. This is because there will be more individuals, and thereby more species, in local landscapes with more forested area (i.e. sample area effect; Fahrig, 2013). The distribution and abundance of species in secondary forests can also depend on source-sink dynamics and the neighbourhood effect (reviewed by Dunning et al., 1992). For example, young secondary forests are known to be less suitable (i.e. sinks) than old-growth forests for many shade-tolerant plant species (Tabarelli, Peres & Melo, 2012; Chazdon, 2014) and for forest-dependent animal species (Dunn, 2004; Harris & Pimm, 2004; Castro-Luna et al., 2007; Peña-Cuellar et al., 2012; Carrara et al., 2015). Thus, the arrival and persistence of these species in secondary forest patches may depend on sources of immigrants

**Ultimate variables** 

from old-growth forests (Pickett et al., 1987; Dunn, 2004; Gardner et al., 2008). In fact, based on the neighbourhood effect, a species' abundance in a given patch is expected to depend more strongly on characteristics of contiguous patches than on more distant patches within the landscape (Dunning et al., 1992). Tscharntke et al. (2012) describe other relevant theoretical models of how the landscape moderates biodiversity patterns and processes in HMTLs. Among them, the 'landscape-moderated insurance hypothesis' is particularly relevant for SS, as it postulates that landscape complexity can provide higher resilience and stability of ecological processes in HMTLs, thus offering spatial and temporal insurance. For instance, both landscape connectivity and beta diversity are expected to be higher in complex-structured landscapes (Tscharntke et al., 2012), potentially favouring SS through the arrival of a higher number of species.

Although further empirical studies are needed to test these hypotheses accurately, these theoretical models suggest that both the successional pathways and the conservation importance of secondary forests must be evaluated beyond the traditional forest-regeneration research agenda and its stand-level-based investigative approach (Pickett *et al.*, 1987; Chazdon *et al.*, 2009*b*; Meiners *et al.*, 2015). Because SS is a complex process affected by variables operating at multiple scales (Fig. 1), we require new multi-scale approaches to tropical forest succession to guide effective management and conservation programs in HMTLs (Ricklefs, 2004; Gardner *et al.*, 2009; Perfecto *et al.*, 2009; Melo *et al.*, 2013; Meiners *et al.*, 2015).

#### (1) Purpose and structure of review

In this review, we first update SS knowledge by incorporating concepts, methodological approaches and findings emerging not only from forest succession ecological theory (e.g. Bazzaz & Pickett, 1980; Finegan, 1984; Pickett et al., 1987; Chazdon, 2008), but also from emerging disciplines such as landscape ecology (e.g. Lindenmayer et al., 2008; Tscharntke et al., 2012; Mendenhall et al., 2014), and forest fragmentation research (e.g. Fischer & Lindenmayer, 2007; Didham, Kapos & Ewers, 2012; Villard & Metzger, 2014). We assess both plants and animals, but focus on plants because they represent key structural and functional elements of forest ecosystems, and exhibit multiple pathways at the community level. Furthermore, they support food webs and represent a substantial proportion of tropical biodiversity (Slik et al., 2015). Also, they determine most of the aboveground biomass and related ecosystem services (see Gilroy et al., 2014b; Lohbeck et al., 2015).

We are particularly interested in the forces driving the shifts in biotic assemblages as succession proceeds and in understanding the causes of the multiple successional pathways experienced by regenerating stands. We then examine the potential implications of such an integrated understanding of succession to determine the importance of secondary forests for biodiversity conservation. Finally, we propose a future research agenda focused on key topics that will further help understand which the main drivers of successional pathways in dynamic HMTLs are. Although previous studies have recognized the role played by landscape configuration on key processes (e.g. seed dispersal) and patterns (e.g. species availability) for SS (Pickett et al., 1987; Meiners et al., 2015), to our knowledge no attempts have been made to combine emerging knowledge from tropical forest succession, forest fragmentation and landscape ecology research to offer an integrated framework on the main ecological driving forces that shape successional pathways at multiple spatial scales. Admittedly, most of the ecological factors shaping SS are indirect consequences of proximate (e.g. economic activity, policy, road culture, social institutions, governance) and underlying societal (e.g. population density, percentage of economically active population) drivers (e.g. Ostrom, 2009; Aide et al., 2013; Quezada et al., 2014). However, herein we concentrate on the ecological factors directly shaping SS because a proper assessment of the interplay between the indirect societal and biophysical factors and drivers underlying them is outside the scope of this review.

#### II. SECONDARY FOREST DYNAMICS IN HUMAN-MODIFIED LANDSCAPES

Secondary succession research has already identified a complex suite of variables affecting the regeneration potential of secondary forests (e.g. disturbance type, extent, intensity and frequency, propagule availability, and the condition of the local and the surrounding landscape), particularly at the stand scale (Pickett et al., 1987; Wijdeven & Kuzee, 2000; Chazdon, 2003, 2008; Dunn, 2004; Lawrence, 2005; Powers & Peréz-Aviles, 2013; Cole et al., 2014; Réjou-Méchain et al., 2014). Fragmentation research and landscape ecology have identified additional variables affecting the dynamics of populations and communities in HMTLs (e.g. landscape forest cover, connectivity, matrix composition, forest edge density), with important implications for forest regeneration at the landscape and regional scales (Ricklefs, 2004; Fischer & Lindenmayer, 2007; Putz et al., 2011; Didham et al., 2012; Tscharntke et al., 2012; Fahrig, 2013; Ferraz et al., 2014; Villard & Metzger, 2014). Considering that succession is modulated by processes operating at multiple scales (e.g. Meiners et al., 2015), combining these three approaches may offer a unified view of SS through two levels of integration. The first level integrates proximate and ultimate biophysical variables that influence regeneration across multiple scales (Fig. 1). The second level integrates these complex variables and their impacts on plant life histories (Fig. 2). Addressing SS as a process responding to the interplay of local, landscape and regional factors may unravel the ecological causes behind a variety of successional pathways and enable one to predict the importance of secondary forest stands as repositories of tropical biodiversity, and also as a source of essential ecosystem functions and services in HMTLs.



**Fig. 2.** Conceptual model highlighting potential relationships between different regeneration driving forces (both direct and indirect) operating at multiple spatio-temporal scales in human-modified tropical landscapes. The processes (in bold) generating the patterns (boxes) within the plant life cycle (dotted box; *sensu* Wang & Smith, 2002) are influenced by numerous local factors, which together represent the main proximate causes of forest regeneration. Such patterns and processes are, at the same time, determined by patch attributes (e.g. size, shape and isolation), which also depend on the landscape and regional contexts. For clarity, not all direct and indirect pathways are shown, but only some important paths are highlighted based on empirical and theoretical studies (e.g. Ewers & Didham, 2006; Fischer & Lindenmayer, 2007; Didham *et al.*, 2012; Fahrig, 2013). We also simplified the model by excluding synergistic interactions across scales, and direct associations between regional features and local patterns and processes (e.g. in terms of species diversity; Lawton, 1999).

# (1) Proximate and ultimate forces driving forest succession

At the local scale (i.e. a small patch of abandoned land or stand), soil and microclimate conditions, as well as antagonistic (e.g. competition, predation, herbivory, parasitism and diseases) and mutualistic (e.g. mycorrhizal and nitrogen-fixing bacterial symbiosis, pollination, seed dispersal) biotic interactions are proximate factors determining which species arrive and establish in regenerating forest stands (Pickett et al., 1987; Moran et al., 2000; Chazdon, 2003; Norden et al., 2011; Silva et al., 2012; Réjou-Méchain et al., 2014; Meiners et al., 2015; a in Fig. 1). The relative roles played by each of these abiotic and biotic factors may change depending on landscape composition. At one extreme, in landscapes dominated by forested matrices, variation in SS pathways observed across secondary forest stands is mainly associated with local variation in environmental factors, such as substrate quality and microclimate. This is because propagule availability is expected to be relatively high, thus reducing seed limitation pressures (Meiners et al., 2015). Conversely, in landscapes that have suffered intensive and extensive land-use changes with low remaining forest cover, SS will additionally depend on numerous factors operating at the landscape (b in Fig. 1) and regional (c in Fig. 1) scales, particularly those affecting the production, dispersal

and predation of propagules, and intense herbivory of regenerating assemblages.

For example, the extirpation of key mutualistic (e.g. seed dispersers, pollinators) and antagonistic (e.g. seed predators) animal groups and the proliferation of generalist herbivores (e.g. leaf-cutting ants) at the local and landscape scales alter ecological processes that are critical for forest recovery (Urbas et al., 2007; Dirzo et al., 2014; Leal, Wirth & Tabarelli, 2014b). The composition of the anthropogenic matrix and the spatial structure of the remaining forest (e.g. percentage of forest cover, connectivity, forest edge density, and forest core areas) affect the functions of pollinators, seed dispersers, seed predators, and herbivores (Janzen, 1971; Howe & Smallwood, 1982; Bawa, 1990; Coley & Barone, 1996; Meyer *et al.*, 2013). Changes in the landscape spatial pattern influence other proximate causes affecting forest regeneration, such as the mesoclimatic conditions, fire incidence, biological invasions, plant harvesting, and browsing by livestock (b in Fig. 1). At a regional scale, land-use history determines the number and sizes of old-growth forest patches in the region (Ewers et al., 2013), which operate as sources of native species (c in Fig. 1). Also, the regional climate, geomorphology, edaphology, and patterns of speciation, species extinction and migrations determine the ecological nature of the regional species pool (e.g. disturbance-adapted *versus* disturbance-sensitive species), directly influencing the ecological profile of the colonizing flora (Ricklefs, 2004). Thus, forest regeneration is determined by a complex set of ecological processes and mechanisms that interact within and among scales (Pickett *et al.*, 1987; Chazdon, 2014; Meiners *et al.*, 2015).

# (2) Regenerating driving forces and plant life histories

Forest regeneration depends directly on the patterns and processes involved in the plant life cycle (Wang & Smith, 2002; Fig. 2). This cycle is composed of a series of transitional stages whereby ovules are fertilized and become seeds, seeds are moved away from the parental plants and are deposited in a given spot. Then, the surviving seeds may germinate giving rise to seedlings, and these may ultimately develop into reproductive plants which, in turn, influence seed availability for following generations. Each of these stages is affected by numerous local conditions (e.g. microclimate and soil characteristics) and biotic processes (e.g. pollination, seed dispersal, herbivory, animal movements, and plant-soil, plant-plant and plant-animal interactions), which collectively drive forest regeneration in HMTLs (e.g. Pickett et al., 1987). However, such direct causes depend on numerous indirect driving forces that act at the patch (e.g. patch size and isolation, edge effects), landscape (e.g. forest cover, connectivity, matrix complexity) and regional scales (e.g. climate, regional species pool, topography) (Figs 1 and 2).

For example, seed dispersal, seed germination and seedling recruitment are conditioned by different interconnected drivers, such as topography, landscape forest cover, isolation, and matrix complexity (Fig. 2). Likewise, plant growth and reproduction respond to soil and microclimatic characteristics conditioned by topography, as well as by patch (e.g. size, shape and isolation) and landscape characteristics (e.g. forest cover, connectivity, matrix complexity), which directly determine the intensity of edge effects, such as levels of habitat desiccation, light intensity and wind turbulence (Saunders, Hobbs & Margules, 1991; Murcia, 1995; Laurance et al., 2002; Ewers & Didham, 2006). From a plant's perspective, these driving forces may represent regenerative barriers that act as dispersal-limitation agents (e.g. lack of vertebrate seed dispersers) or ecological filters (e.g. seed/seedling predation by generalist herbivores, competition with exotic and disturbance-adapted species; Tabarelli et al., 2012). Integrating plant life cycles into SS, these same driving forces directly affect the taxonomic profile of successional plant and animal assemblages, and their regeneration rates, by differentially affecting the population dynamics of participating species. These multi-scale and interacting forces are also expected to govern the occurrence of alternative successional pathways within and across landscapes (Laurance et al., 2007; Tscharntke et al., 2012; Arroyo-Rodríguez et al., 2013; Norden et al., 2015; Reyer et al., 2015). In synthesis, the structure of biotic assemblages inhabiting secondary forest patches in HMTLs and their development (the pathways) is determined by a suite of driving forces across multiple scales (Gardner *et al.*, 2009; Tabarelli *et al.*, 2012; Meiners *et al.*, 2015).

## (3) Potential successional pathways in HMTLs

In tropical wet forests, SS occurs mainly in areas of high human population density, where forests have been extensively transformed into agricultural landscapes under the effect of societal drivers (e.g. increasing global demand for food), but where migration of people has led to the abandonment of lands (Aide et al., 2013). Land abandonment is a complex phenomenon that is mostly driven by socioeconomic factors, such as migration to areas where new life opportunities are offered to rural people (e.g. Rey Benayas et al., 2007). SS can also occur in areas with relatively low productivity, such as those present at high elevations (e.g. cooler temperatures, steeper slopes), that are not appropriate for large-scale mechanized agriculture (Aide et al., 2013). Whatever the societal causes of SS, HMTLs can be highly heterogeneous (Ellis, 2013), depending on the type, extent, frequency and intensity of human disturbances, ranging from relatively conserved landscapes to strongly degraded ones (sensu Melo et al., 2013). The former scenario is typical from recently human-colonized landscapes, and is characterized by a high old-growth/secondary forest ratio and low coverage of edge-affected habitats. In the latter scenario, typical from landscapes with a long history of human occupation and anthropogenic land use, remaining old-growth forest patches are very small (with small core areas, strongly affected by edge effects and highly isolated from each other), embedded in anthropogenic matrices dominated by naturally regrowing forests, agroforestry production systems, pasturelands and/or annual crops. As described below, with increasing land-use intensity, both the successional pathways of secondary forests and their predictability are altered (Fig. 3).

Generally, the capacity of the ecosystem to recover from human disturbances, i.e. ecological resilience, is expected to be higher and more predictable in recently modified landscapes, with higher remaining forest cover, where remnant trees and seed and seedling banks composed of native species persist, and where well-preserved biodiversity-rich native forests are still present in the landscape (Folke et al., 2004; Hooper, Legendre & Condit, 2004; Lamb, Erskine & Parrotta, 2005; Lawrence, 2005; Gilroy et al., 2014a; Jakovac et al., 2015; Rever et al., 2015; a in Fig. 3). In agreement with this idea, secondary forests in recently cleared landscapes with higher remaining forest cover and less human disturbance converge relatively quickly to the community attributes of nearby reference forests (e.g. Terborgh et al., 1996; Sheil, 1999; Norden et al., 2009, 2011; Dent, DeWalt & Denslow, 2013; Jakovac et al., 2015). Nevertheless, such convergence is particularly evident for stand structure (e.g. tree basal area, stem density and species richness) and animal species richness compared to species composition, as even under such relatively favourable scenarios for forest regeneration, significant differences in species composition between secondary forests and reference areas have been commonly



Fig. 3. Conceptual diagram showing the hypothesized relationship between disturbance intensity in human-modified tropical landscapes and the level of predictability of successional pathways (continuous line) and the velocity of secondary succession (dashed line). SS is expected to be relatively fast and more predictable (i.e. convergent with the vegetation of nearby old-growth forests, dominated by old-growth forest species) where the land has been used for a short time, and where well-preserved biodiversity-rich native forests are still present in the landscape (a). Because of the increasing variation in landscape spatial configuration and matrix heterogeneity in landscapes with intermediate levels of disturbance, successional pathways will become highly variable, and hence less predictable (b). With further increasing human disturbance, however, the landscape will become more homogenous (e.g. dominated by open areas, with limited availability of old-growth forest remnants) and biologically impoverished, thus decreasing successional recovery and increasing the predictability of successional pathways (e.g. hyper-dominance of disturbance-adapted species, biotic homogenization) as the variation in potential pathways is strongly reduced. In fact, we predict that there must be a threshold of disturbance intensity (e.g. topsoil loss, reduction in soil fertility, extinction of seed dispersers and/or dominance of grasses, lianas or invasive ferns) above which the system may be abruptly driven towards a slow or arrested succession state (see Mesquita *et al.*, 2001; Lamb et al., 2005; Tabarelli et al., 2008; Putz et al., 2011; Jakovac et al., 2015).

shown in plants (e.g. Chazdon *et al.*, 2007; Lebrija-Trejos *et al.*, 2010*a*; Dent *et al.*, 2013; Sandor & Chazdon, 2014) and animals (Moutinho, 1998; Shankar-Raman, Rawat & Johnsingh, 1998; Vasconcelos, 1999; Dunn, 2004; Gardner *et al.*, 2008; Hernández-Ordóñez, Urbina-Cardona & Martínez-Ramos, 2015).

With increasing human-driven modifications in the landscape, however, the heterogeneity of HMTLs also increases, resulting in a mosaic of land-cover types (e.g. old-growth forest patches, secondary forests, agricultural lands, and human settlements) with different spatial configuration (Fahrig *et al.*, 2011; Ellis, 2013; Mendenhall *et al.*, 2014; Villard & Metzger, 2014). This heterogeneity is expected to reduce predictability of the successional pathways in particular locations for several reasons (b in Fig. 3). First, as forest cover decreases in the landscape, successional patches change from being surrounded by forested areas towards being immersed in heterogeneous matrices, with variable availability and arrival of old-growth forest species (Tabarelli et al., 2010; Melo et al., 2013; Gilroy et al., 2014a; Mendenhall et al., 2014). Second, the landscapes with intermediate forest cover (i.e. 20-50% remaining forest cover) show greater variability in the degree of fragmentation (e.g. number of forest patches) and in total forest edge, thus increasing the relative impact of surrounding landscape spatial configuration on ecological patterns and processes (Villard & Metzger, 2014 and references therein). For example, the impact of landscape configuration (e.g. forest patch size) on the abundance and richness of birds (Martensen et al., 2012) and small mammals (Pardini et al., 2010) can be relatively higher in landscapes with intermediate forest cover than in landscapes with high (>50%) or low (<30%) remaining forest cover. Thus, ecological processes such as pollination, seed dispersal and seed predation can be highly variable among forest patches, depending on the amount of forest cover in the local landscape. Finally, differences in disturbance regimes can promote the taxonomic differentiation (i.e. increasing beta-diversity) of plant (Arroyo-Rodríguez et al., 2013) and animal (Gardner et al., 2008; Püttker et al., 2015) assemblages among forest patches. These effects feed the 'landscape-divergence hypothesis' (Laurance et al., 2007) stating that secondary forests developed in sites with contrasting biotic and abiotic environmental settings and located in landscapes differing in spatial structure can exhibit increasing levels of taxonomic differentiation and divergent successional pathways (b in Fig. 3). Therefore, differences in landscape structure and land-use dynamics may result in contrasting biotic and abiotic conditions among regenerating stands (Fig. 2), differentially driving the regeneration into diverse successional pathways (Steininger, 2000; Mesquita et al., 2001; Laurance et al., 2007; Tscharntke et al., 2012; Martin, Newton & Bullock, 2013; Jakovac et al., 2015; Norden et al., 2015).

Human disturbance above a certain threshold is expected to limit, and even interrupt, the ecological resilience of the system (Folke et al., 2004; Lawrence, 2005; Banks-Leite et al., 2014; Cole et al., 2014; Gilroy et al., 2014a; Jakovac et al., 2015; Rever et al., 2015). This strongly decreases successional recovery and increases predictability as the variation in potential pathways is strongly reduced (c in Fig. 3). Landscapes with long land-use histories have experienced persistent modifications and mostly high levels of resource exploitation, which has led to (quasi-) permanent changes in environmental conditions, resource degradation, defaunation, and proliferation of disturbance-adapted species such as pioneer plants and generalist herbivores (e.g. Shankar-Raman et al., 1998; Martorell & Peters, 2005; Bihn et al., 2008; Tabarelli et al., 2008; Meyer, Leal & Wirth, 2009; Melo et al., 2013). Such old agricultural landscapes clearly contrast with newly agricultural frontier areas. Most of these old landscapes have lost the largest

patches of old-growth forests that operate as source areas for the old-growth flora (Melo *et al.*, 2013), guilds of animal dispersers (Silva & Tabarelli, 2000), and natural enemies of proliferating herbivores (e.g. moisture-loving phorid flies - a specialist parasitoid of leaf-cutting ants: Almeida, Wirth & Leal, 2008). With the loss of old-growth forest cover, the habitat, as well as the ecological and landscape connectivity (sensu Fischer & Lindenmayer, 2007) can also be reduced (see Fahrig, 2013), limiting the interchange of seeds and species among regenerating stands (Silva & Tabarelli, 2000; Didham et al., 2012; Gilroy et al., 2014a). In many cases, the environmental conditions in the landscape have greatly changed (e.g. by increasing edge-effects and persistent use of agrochemicals, heavy machinery, fire and or cattle-ranching activities), with negative implications for forest regeneration, such as increased tree mortality, inhibited arrival, establishment and growth of old-growth species, intense herbivory of regenerating assemblages, invasion by disturbance-adapted species, and altered soil and microclimatic conditions (e.g. Laurance et al., 2002; Hooper et al., 2004; Urbas et al., 2007; Santos et al., 2008; Tabarelli et al., 2008; Chazdon et al., 2009b; Meyer et al., 2009; Leal et al., 2014b).

In synthesis, we predict that land-use intensification reduces the resilience of secondary forests, potentially driving the system towards a slow or arrested succession state that holds a lower potential to deliver ecosystem services (Mesquita et al., 2001; Tabarelli et al., 2008, 2012; Lôbo et al., 2011; Putz et al., 2011; Leal et al., 2014b; Gilroy et al., 2014b; Jakovac et al., 2015; c in Fig. 3). Common examples reviewed by Lamb et al. (2005) occur when degradation leads to topsoil loss and a reduction in soil fertility, or when the areas become dominated by grasses, lianas or invasive ferns (e.g. Schnitzer et al., 2000; Hooper et al., 2004; Jakovac et al., 2015; Suazo-Orduño et al., 2015). In both cases, the re-colonization of these sites by many of the original species can be difficult, if not impossible (Hooper et al., 2004; Lamb et al., 2005; Suazo-Orduño et al., 2015). Thus, substantial differences in taxonomic and functional composition of plant and animal assemblages between secondary forests and nearby reference areas can persist even centuries after abandonment (Corlett, 1992; Clark, 1996; Finegan, 1996; Shankar-Raman et al., 1998; Chazdon et al., 2007; Bihn et al., 2008). This is particularly evident for old-growth forest specialists, such as many epiphytes (Martin et al., 2013; Woods & DeWalt, 2013), frugivorous and nectarivorous-insectivorous birds (Shankar-Raman et al., 1998), large carnivorous bats (Peña-Cuellar et al., 2012) and dietary-specialist hypogeic ants (Bihn et al., 2008). The loss of both species and ecological processes in long-deforested and fragmented landscapes also reduces variation in possible successional trajectories with increased pathway predictability (Tabarelli et al., 2008). In particular, in highly human-disturbed landscapes the taxonomic/functional similarity across successional pathways will increase, leading to biotic homogenization in the landscape, especially resulting from proliferation of disturbance-adapted species that are widespread throughout multiple landscapes (Lôbo *et al.*, 2011; Tabarelli *et al.*, 2012; Leal *et al.*, 2014*b*; Püttker *et al.*, 2015).

# (4) The (neglected) role of chronic human disturbances and its societal drivers

Emerging interdisciplinary studies have shed light on the complex interplay between dynamics of humans and biodiversity in HMTLs (Ellis, 2013; Melo *et al.*, 2013; Laurance, Sayer & Cassman, 2014). Understanding why, how and to what extent people use land or natural resources is essential to assess SS (Gardner *et al.*, 2013). Acute disturbances are those large-scale disturbances that cause massive forest loss, mainly associated with growing global population, increasing *per capita* wealth, and the increasing global demand for agricultural land (Lambin & Meyfroidt, 2011; Sodhi *et al.*, 2011; Aide *et al.*, 2013; Ellis, 2013).

Soon after the establishment of human populations, several disturbance factors arise that do not result in forest loss and fragmentation, but that have negative impacts on the biological integrity of tropical biota (Singh, 1998; Laurance & Peres, 2006; Ribeiro *et al.*, 2015). Well-known examples are continuous poaching, extraction of firewood and non-timber forest products, and the damage caused by livestock, which overall result in a subtle but constant removal of small fractions of forest biomass (Martorell & Peters, 2005; May-Tobin, 2011; Leal, Andersen & Leal, 2014*a*; Ribeiro *et al.*, 2015). These disturbances can be regarded as 'chronic' because they extend over relatively long time periods, and have cumulative effects on biodiversity in HMTLs (Sodhi *et al.*, 2011; Ellis, 2013; Melo *et al.*, 2013; Leal, Andersen & Leal, 2015; Ribeiro *et al.*, 2015).

The consequences of chronic disturbances for forest succession are relatively easy to predict, but difficult to assess. For example, harvesting of timber and fuelwood is likely severely to limit seed source availability for forest succession, particularly for those species that are being harvested (Specht et al., 2015). Hunting can also reduce the seed movement of zoochorous species and affect mainly large-seeded tree species because large-bodied fauna tend to be preferred by hunters due to cost-benefit trade-offs (Stoner et al., 2007; Parry, Barlow & Peres, 2009; Parry et al., 2010). But even ant assemblages can be altered due to chronic disturbances limiting the provision of ecosystem services, such as seed dispersal (Leal et al., 2014a) and plant protection against herbivores (Leal et al., 2015). Overgrazing by livestock also imposes a continuum of vegetation degradation, including reduced biomass, simplification of seedling and sapling communities, and ultimately may lead to complete desertification (Leal et al., 2005; Papachristou & Platis, 2011; Ribeiro et al., 2015). Biological invasions involving plant and animal species in HMTLs are likely to take place as long as chronic disturbance prevails because humans tend to introduce domesticated plants and animals (Ellis, 2013).

In summary, despite the reduction in the annual net loss of old-growth forests observed in several tropical developing countries (Aide & Grau, 2004; Aide *et al.*, 2013; Hansen *et al.*, 2013), the frequency and intensity of chronic disturbances are expected to intensify and alter successional pathways of the remaining forest patches. Even areas embedded in large tracts of forest can be severely altered by management techniques, although the overall human impact is lower. In Brazil, for example, the management of forest for production of fruits of *Euterpe oleracea* (commercially known as 'açaf') has been shown to cause floristic impoverishment with perceivable consequences for forest succession (Freitas *et al.*, 2015). The use and modification of remaining natural habitats by people that depend on natural resources may therefore create 'novel ecosystems' (*sensu* Hobbs, Higgs & Harris, 2009) that differ from their 'pristine' counterparts not only in terms of species composition but also in successional trajectories (Collier, 2015).

Chronic disturbances are more likely to be driven by density of human population in HMTLs and its degree of dependency on natural resources, as demonstrated across the world (Ostrom, 2009). Human dependency on natural resources is mostly governed by a context-dependent combination of availability and accessibility to natural resources and economic vulnerability (Barrett, Travis & Dasgupta, 2011). Therefore, SS in HMTLs should be drastically influenced by the socio-economic factors governing the intensity of chronic disturbances (Ostrom, 2009). Most of the world's land experiencing SS is private, and therefore, subject to the rules of land market and laws operating in each country. The long-lasting permanence of the SS in private lands depends upon the benefits owners may receive or the enforcement of laws aimed to protect forests in private lands (Aronson et al., 2011; Chazdon, 2014). Creating economic incentives and well as law enforcement must be the main policies to promote forest regrowth worldwide.

#### III. THE CONSERVATION IMPORTANCE OF SECONDARY FORESTS

Over the last decades, forest succession, forest fragmentation and landscape ecology research have contributed complementary information on some key drivers of SS in HMTLs. Such knowledge can be used to assess the potential of secondary forests as biodiversity repositories in HMTLs. Although it is clear that secondary forest stands can be suitable habitats for many species (Lindell, Chomentowski & Zook, 2004; Barlow et al., 2007; Castro-Luna et al., 2007; Harvey et al., 2008; Chazdon et al., 2009b; Gillies & St. Clair, 2010; Woods & DeWalt, 2013), we still do not know if vulnerable species are able to maintain viable populations in secondary forests (Prach & Walker, 2011) or to what extent the long-term persistence of species in secondary forests relies on supplements of individuals coming from nearby old-growth forest patches operating as source areas (i.e. source-sink dynamics: Dunning et al., 1992). For example, there is evidence that many rare and habitat-specialized bats are absent in young successional stages close to old-growth forests (Castro-Luna et al., 2007;

Peña-Cuellar et al., 2012). Also, studies of birds indicate that the percentage of secondary forests in the landscape is negatively related to the diversity of forest specialist and generalist species (Carrara et al., 2015), and that the ability of species to use secondary habitats in the tropics does not reduce their risk of becoming locally extinct as a result of deforestation (Harris & Pimm, 2004). Thus, some key questions for biodiversity conservation in HMTLs are: (i) how much biodiversity can secondary forests retain in the long term as compared to old-growth forests, or (ii) to what extent do secondary forests represent suitable habitat for old-growth forest-dependent species and for those already recognized as sensitive to human-disturbances (Barlow et al., 2007; Chazdon et al., 2009b; Prach & Walker, 2011; Woods & DeWalt, 2013)? In line with this, we also know little about how demographic rates of plants are altered in secondary versus old-growth forest patches. These questions are particularly relevant because local extinction in HMTLs is not a random process but focuses on particular groups of plants (e.g. large trees, species with large seeds, those pollinated by specialized agents and those exhibiting supra-annual reproduction) and animals (e.g. species with small population sizes, specialized habitat requirements and food resources, and/or with large home-range requirements) (Laurance et al., 2006; Bihn et al., 2008; Santos et al., 2008; Filgueiras, Iannuzzi & Leal, 2011; Leal et al., 2012; Peña-Cuellar et al., 2012; Tabarelli et al., 2012; Woods & DeWalt, 2013; Dirzo et al., 2014).

In this sense, two contrasting views promote the current debate on the conservation importance of secondary forests. First, some studies suggest that succession is a predictable process governed by niche-assembly rules, conferring high resilience to tropical forests after disturbance, both in terms of structure and species composition (Finegan, 1996; Terborgh et al., 1996; Letcher & Chazdon, 2009; Norden et al., 2009). If so, secondary forests could serve as biodiversity reservoirs for old-growth forest species (Aide & Grau, 2004; Wright & Muller-Landau, 2006; Chazdon et al., 2009b). Others, however, suggest that human-impacted forests are doomed because their original functioning has been disrupted and species composition will never return to its original state (Turner et al., 1994, 1996, 1997; Brook et al., 2006). Although much of this discussion depends on how broadly the 'original state' is defined and also on the timescale involved (Scheffer, 2009), it is clear that many secondary forest stands can only provide suitable habitat for disturbance-adapted plant and animal species, and that they cannot be colonized by many old-growth forest species without direct intervention (Turner et al., 1994; Barlow et al., 2007; Gardner et al., 2008; Tabarelli et al., 2008; Martin et al., 2013; Woods & DeWalt, 2013; Chazdon, 2014; Leal et al., 2014b).

Such contrasting perspectives reflect in fact the multiple pathways that succession may follow (Fig. 3). In other words, the conservation role played by secondary forests is context-dependent as they are affected by a myriad of variables operating simultaneously and at multiple scales (Figs 1 and 2). Context-dependency, however, does not imply idiosyncrasy, but rather a multifactorial phenomenon which, to be properly described and predicted, must be addressed by more comprehensive modelling approaches that include more detailed information about the secondary stands studied (Meiners *et al.*, 2015; Norden *et al.*, 2015). To increase predictability, ecological research must therefore identify the environmental conditions provided by secondary forests that are suitable for different groups of species, particularly for old-growth forest species and/or for species recognized as disturbance-sensitive. Of course, we should not underrate the importance of generalist species that occur in both old-growth and secondary forests, as these species are often abundant, and when present, can contribute to the rapid recovery of species composition and forest structure (Norden *et al.*, 2009).

From this perspective, our unified view predicts the occurrence of two general possibilities, which represent the two extremes of a gradient of ecological conditions or opportunities through which SS occurs in HMTLs (Fig. 3). First, succession is likely to proceed rapidly and support more diversified and convergent plant assemblages, from early- to late-successional stands, in the presence of: (i) non-degraded soils; (ii) abundant sources of propagules for plant regeneration, including allochtonous (i.e. out-patch) seeds, soil seed bank, seedling bank and sprouts; and (iii) reduced filtering imposed by site conditions, edge effects and resource exploitation by human populations (Terborgh et al., 1996; Sheil, 1999; Hooper et al., 2004; Lamb et al., 2005; Chazdon et al., 2009b; Norden et al., 2011). These requisites are better met in those landscapes experiencing low-intensity land use and thus exhibiting (i) large remnants of old-growth forests and their quasi-intact animal community operating as pollinators, seed dispersers, herbivores, and parasites at the landscape scale; (ii) high percentages of remaining forest cover and high habitat and ecological connectivity; and (iii) heterogeneous matrices and reduced exploitation of forest resources (Primack & Miao, 1992; Holl, 1999; Wright et al., 2000; Melo et al., 2013; Dirzo et al., 2014). In such a landscape context, seed dispersal limitation, ecological filtering and antagonistic biotic interactions do not offer significant constraints to many species to reach the regenerating forests (Leal et al., 2014b; Meiners et al., 2015).

Second, there must be a threshold of disturbance intensity in HMTLs above which the conservation importance of secondary forests decreases because of the increasingly impoverished assemblages they are able to retain (Turner *et al.*, 1994; Folke *et al.*, 2004; Slocum *et al.*, 2004; Tabarelli *et al.*, 2008; Banks-Leite *et al.*, 2014). This is particularly true when land use results in (*i*) intense soil degradation (loss of soil fertility and structure, high pollutant levels); (*ii*) reduced forest cover and high levels of habitat fragmentation; (*iii*) extirpation of the pollinator and frugivorous fauna; (*iv*) strong edge effects and degradation of secondary forest stands *via* fire, logging, plant harvesting, intense herbivory of regenerating assemblages and/or proliferation of disturbance-adapted species (Lamb *et al.*, 2005; Tabarelli *et al.*, 2008, 2012; Chazdon *et al.*, 2009*b*; Putz *et al.*, 2011; Leal *et al.*, 2014*b*). Thus, it is not surprising that in severely deforested regions, such as in Singapore, where 99.8% of the old-growth forest has disappeared, secondary forests appear to accrete plant diversity very slowly, even if they are contiguous to relatively intact old-growth forest areas (Turner *et al.*, 1994). Slow rates of regeneration have also been reported in south-eastern Asia, in sites with higher landscape forest cover, but due to low soil fertility and the regional species pool (poor dispersal ability of dipterocarps) (Brearley *et al.*, 2004). Thus, not only the presence of intensive land use, but also seed dispersal limitation, ecological filtering and antagonistic biotic interactions represent significant constraints to the majority of the flora in secondary forests (with the exception of disturbance-adapted species).

Finally, although ecological data derived from chronosequence analyses (e.g. abundance, taxonomic and functional composition, species diversity) have been frequently interpreted as proxies of diversity persistence, they cannot inform us about habitat suitability or the long-term persistence of populations in secondary forest stands (e.g. van Breugel et al., 2013). Thus, SS research should integrate novel aspects from ecological theory, such as metapopulation theory, niche theory, and neutral theory, among others. Fragmentation research and landscape ecology can also be of key relevance for understanding successional dynamics. For example, secondary forest stands may operate as: (i) supplementary habitats for forest-dependent species; (ii) suitable habitats for disturbance-adapted species; and (iii) structural elements in the landscape, such as stepping stones and forest corridors, enhancing matrix permeability and landscape connectivity at multiple spatial scales (Dunning et al., 1992; Ewers & Didham, 2006; Lindenmayer et al., 2008; Tscharntke et al., 2012).

Taking advantage of such 'real' instead of 'potential' opportunities requires: (i) long-term, population-level research devoted to understanding population dynamics and species persistence at the landscape and regional scales; and (ii) incorporating secondary forests as key elements of conservation planning and integrated landscape management (Chazdon et al., 2009a; Freeman, Duguma & Minang, 2015). Also, additional studies distinguishing the effect of forest type (i.e. secondary versus old-growth forest) and configuration (e.g. patch size) are required (see Ferraz et al., 2014). Secondary forest patches are usually smaller than old-growth stands (see Martin et al., 2013), but many studies in fragmented landscapes do not distinguish between old-growth and secondary forest patches (e.g. Morante-Filho et al., 2015), thus limiting our understanding of the conservation role of secondary forests. Of course, to scale-up such understanding we also need broader scale information about secondary forest distribution and land-use patterns, as we have a relatively poor knowledge of the distribution of secondary forests globally, thus limiting our ability to assess how secondary forest distribution and landscape structure affect succession at regional scales.

Considering the landscape and regional contexts, therefore, a key issue to be considered is not whether

the secondary forest patches will recover until achieving compositional levels similar to old-growth stands, but that landscape-scale forest cover increases through secondary growth, potentially allowing the 'payment' of extinction debts in HMTLs (see Banks-Leite et al., 2014). Both theoretical and empirical evidence suggests that biodiversity persistence in HMTLs declines sharply below approximately 30% of forest cover in the landscape (Andrén, 1994; Banks-Leite et al., 2014), although this threshold may vary among regions and taxonomic groups (e.g. Morante-Filho et al., 2015). Thus, the increase of secondary forests in the landscape may contribute to maintain more species through the increment of landscape-scale forest cover. Furthermore, the multiple successional pathways that secondary forests can follow implies that secondary forests contribute to an increased beta-diversity at the landscape scale, thus allowing the accumulation of a higher number of species in HMTLs (i.e. gamma diversity; Gardner et al., 2008; Arroyo-Rodríguez et al., 2013; Püttker et al., 2015). In this sense, the 'dominance of beta-diversity hypothesis' (sensu Tscharntke et al., 2012) proposes that the negative effects of land cover change on local (alpha) diversity can be overridden by the increase of beta-diversity, as such increase allows the maintenance of gamma-diversity. In this sense, the discussion regarding the conservation role of secondary forests should be moved from the local to the landscape level.

In synthesis, secondary forest stands must be actively monitored and managed (e.g. using assisted forest restoration) according to conservation goals considering broad spatial scales (landscape or region; i.e. the conservation scales recommended by conservation biologists) (Lamb et al., 2005; Lindenmayer et al., 2008; Tabarelli et al., 2010). Also, the phylogenetic and functional dimensions of biodiversity should be more deeply investigated in secondary forests, as species richness, abundance and the taxonomic approach per se do not fully describe biological communities (Letcher et al., 2012; Santos et al., 2014; Meiners et al., 2015). Indeed, studying changes in phylogenetic relatedness of species and individuals within regenerating assemblages can be useful to bridge gaps between ecological and evolutionary questions during forest succession, infer mechanisms of community assembly, and determine whether the evolutionary relationships among species of an assemblage affect ecological processes and ecosystem functioning (Cavender-Bares et al., 2009; Letcher, 2010; Meiners et al., 2015).

#### **IV. CONCLUSIONS**

(1) Secondary forest stands are likely to persist as an important component of present and future HMTLs either qualitatively or quantitatively, while old-growth forest patches continue to be cleared (Ferraz *et al.*, 2014). In addition to natural forest regeneration, many landscapes are experiencing assisted forest restoration, increasing the area of secondary forest patches. For example, over 3000 ha of the Brazilian Atlantic forest have been already restored and other thousands are planned, particularly in hyper-fragmented landscapes with reduced forest cover (Melo *et al.*, 2013). Like other biodiversity hotspots, the long-term persistence of Atlantic forest biodiversity requires increasing the forest cover at the landscape level (Putz *et al.*, 2011).

(2) The take-home lessons of this review can be detailed as follows: (i) in tropical landscapes SS is a multifactorial phenomenon affected by a myriad of forces operating at multiple spatio-temporal scales; (ii) succession must be examined by more comprehensive explanatory models, providing information about the forces affecting not only the presence but also the persistence of species and ecological groups, particularly of those taxa expected to be extirpated from HMTLs; (*iii*) SS research should integrate new aspects from forest fragmentation and landscape ecology research to address accurately the real potential offered by secondary forests as biodiversity repositories; (iv) at the landscape level, secondary forest stands provide habitats of variable quality for species, and these forests can also be useful as structuring elements of HMTLs; and (v) secondary forest stands, as a dynamic component of HMTLs must be integrated into conservation-planning approaches, such as biodiversity corridors and biodiversity-friendly landscapes (Harvey et al., 2008; Lindenmayer et al., 2008; Chazdon et al., 2009b; Putz et al., 2011; Melo et al., 2013; Gilroy et al., 2014b).

(3) In synthesis, we must change our scale of analysis and intervention (from local to landscape and regional; Ricklefs, 2004), actively incorporating secondary forests as a key element into conservation and research planning. We require a global network of long-term experiments addressing key topics, such as the validity of chronosequence predictions for different response variables, the functional and phylogenetic basis for successional changes, and the long-term dynamics of populations and communities in secondary forests. We refer to HMTLs instead of single protected areas supporting permanent plots, covering a wide range of land-use conditions and landscape structure, in which land-use dynamics, (meta)population dynamics, species persistence, habitat restoration and management, and other key related topics can be examined and compared (cross-site comparisons), both for the identification of general drivers and for the design of management guidelines. In the Neotropics, for example, many HMTLs have been already elected as research and conservation targets (e.g. the Lacandona rainforest in Mexico, La Selva in Costa Rica, and Manaus in Brazil), largely facilitating the examination of HMTLs and their sets of secondary stands as repositories of tropical biodiversity (see the NeoSelvas project: http://neoselvas.wordpress.uconn.edu/; and the PART-NERS network: http://partners-rcn.uconn.edu/page.php).

### V. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

V.A.-R. and M.M.-R. thank PAPIIT-DGAPA-UNAM (IN204215, IN213714), and Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México for financial and logistic support.

12

the collaborating projects CAPES/DFG (process 007/01) and CAPES/DAAD (grants 257/07, BEX 8836/11-6), and the following agencies CNPq (grants 540322/01, 471904/2004-0, 305970/2004-6, 304346/2007-1, 473529/2007-6, 4772902009-4, 470574/2013-5), FACEPE (grant 0140-2.05/08) and Schimper Foundation (grant 1959/1-2), Conservação International do Brasil (CI-Brasil), Centro de Estudos Ambientais do Nordeste (CEPAN) and Usina Serra Grande, all of which provided infrastructure and logistic support during fieldwork. R.L.C. acknowledges support from the Andrew W. Mellon Foundation, US National Science Foundation, University of CT Research Foundation, and NASA. J.A.M. acknowledges funding from CONACYT (CB-2009-01-128136).

#### **VI. REFERENCES**

- AIDE, T. M., CLARK, M. L., GRAU, H. R., LÓPEZ-CARR, D., LEVY, M. A., REDO, D., BONILLA-MOHENO, M., RINER, G., ANDRADE-NÚÑEZ, M. J. & MUÑIZ, M. (2013). Deforestation and reforestation of Latin America and the Caribean (2001-2010). *Biotropica* 45, 262–271.
- AIDE, T. M. & GRAU, H. R. (2004). Globalization, migration and Latin American ecosystems. *Science* **305**, 1915–1916.
- ALMEIDA, W. R., WIRTH, R. & LEAL, I. R. (2008). Edge-mediated reduction of phorid parasitism on leaf-cutting ants in a Brazilian Atlantic forest. *Entomologia Experimentalis* et Applicata 128, 551–557.
- ANDRÉN, H. (1994). Effects of habitat fragmentation on birds and mammals in landscapes with different proportion of suitable habitat: a review. Oikas 71, 340–346.
- ARONSON, J., BRANCALION, P. H. S., DURIGAN, G., RODRIGUES, R. R., ENGEL, V. L., TABARRLLI, M., TOREZAN, J. M. D., GANDOLFI, S., DE MELO, A. C. G., KAGEYAMA, P. Y., MARQUES, M. C. M., NAVE, A. G., MARTINS, S. V., GANDARA, F. B., REIS, A., et al. (2011). What role should government regulation play in ecological restoration? Ongoing debate in São Paulo State, Brazil. Restoration Ecology 19, 600–695.
- ARROYO-RODRÍGUEZ, V., RÖS, M., ESCOBAR, F., MELO, F. P. L., SANTOS, B. A., TABARELLI, M. & CHAZDON, R. L. (2013). Plant  $\beta$ -diversity in fragmented rainforests: testing floristic homogenization and differentiation hypotheses. *Journal of Ecology* **101**, 1449–1458.
- BAILEY, R. G. (1996). Ecosystem Geography: From Ecoregions to Sites. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- BANKS-LEITE, C., PARDINI, R., TAMBOSI, L. R., PEARSE, W. D., BUENO, A. A., BRUSCAGIN, R. T., CONDEZ, T. H., DIXO, M., IGARI, A. T. & MARTENSEN, A. C. (2014). Using ecological thresholds to evaluate the costs and benefits of set-asides in a biodiversity hotspot. *Science* **345**, 1041–1045.
- BARLOW, J., GARDNER, T. A., ARAUJO, I. S., AVILA-PIRES, T. C., BONALDO, A. B., COSTA, J. E., ESPOSITO, M. C., FERREIRA, L. V., HAWES, J., HERNANDEZ, M. I. M., HOOGMOED, M. S., LEITE, R. N., LO-MAN-HUNG, N. F., MALCOLM, J. R., MARTINS, M. B., et al. (2007). Quantifying the biodiversity value of tropical primary, secondary, and plantation forests. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104, 18555–18560.
- BARRETT, C. B., TRAVIS, A. J. & DASGUPTA, P. (2011). On biodiversity conservation and poverty traps. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108, 13907–13912.
- BAWA, K. S. (1990). Plant-pollinator interactions in tropical rain forests. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 21, 399–422.
- BAZZAZ, F. A. & PICKETT, S. T. A. (1980). Physiological ecology of tropical succession: a comparative review. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 11, 287–310.
- BIHN, J. H., VERHAAGH, M., BRÄNDLE, M. & BRANDL, R. (2008). Do secondary forests act as refuges for old growth forest animals? Recovery of ant diversity in the Atlantic forest of Brazil. *Biological Conservation* 141, 733–743.
- BONNER, M. T. L., SCHMIDT, S. & SHOO, L. P. (2013). A meta-analytical global comparison of aboveground biomass accumulation between tropical secondary forests and monoculture plantations. *Forest Ecology and Management* **291**, 73–86.
- BREARLEY, F. Q., PRAJADINATA, S., KIDD, P. S. & SURIANTATA, J. P. (2004). Structure and floristics of an old secondary rain forest in Central Kalimantan, Indonesia, and a comparison with adjacent primary forest. *Forest Ecology Management* 195, 385–397.
- BRENNAN, J. M., BENDER, D. J., CONTRERAS, T. A. & FAHRIG, L. (2002). Focal patch landscape studies for wildlife management: optimizing sampling effort across scales.

In Integrating: Landscape Ecology into Natural Resource Management (eds J. LIU and W. W. TAYLOR), pp. 68–91. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

- VAN BREUGEL, M., HALL, J. S., CRAVEN, D., BAILON, M., HERNANDEZ, A., ABBENE, M. & VAN BREUGEL, P. (2013). Succession of ephemeral secondary forests and their limited role for the conservation of floristic diversity in a human-modified tropical landscape. *PLoS One* 8, e82433.
- BROOK, B. W., BRADSHAW, C. J. A., KOH, L. P. & SODHI, N. S. (2006). Momentum drives the crash: mass extinction in the tropics. *Biotropica* **38**, 302–305.
- CARRARA, E., ARROYO-RODRÍGUEZ, V., VEGA-RIVERA, J. H., SCHONDUBE, J. E., DE FREITAS, S. M. & FAHRIG, L. (2015). Impact of landscape composition and configuration on forest specialist and generalist bird species in the fragmented Lacandona rainforest, Mexico. *Biological Conservation* 184, 117–126.
- CASTRO-LUNA, A. A., SOSA, V. J. & CASTILLO-CAMPOS, G. (2007). Bat diversity and abundance associated with the degree of secondary succession in a tropical forest mosaic in south-eastern Mexico. *Animal Conservation* 10, 219–228.
- CAVENDER-BARES, J., KOZAK, K. H., FINE, P. V. A. & KEMBEL, S. W. (2009). The merging of community ecology and phylogenetic biology. *Ecology Letters* **12**, 693–715.
- CHAZDON, R. L. (2003). Tropical forest recovery: legacies of human impact and natural disturbances. Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics 6, 51–71.
- CHAZDON, R. L. (2008). Chance and determinism in tropical forest succession. In *Tropical Forest Community Ecology* (cds W. P. CARSON and S. A. SCHNITZER), pp. 384–408. Blackwell, Malden.
- CHAZDON, R. L. (2014). Second Growth. The Promise of Tropical Forest Regeneration in an Age of Deforestation. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- CHAZDON, R. L., HARVEY, C. A., KOMAR, O., GRIFFITH, D. M., FERGUSON, B. G., MARTÍNEZ-RAMOS, M., MORALES, H., NIGH, R., SOTO-PINTO, L., VAN BREUGEL, M. & PHILPOTT, S. M. (2009a). Beyond reserves: a research agenda for conserving biodiversity in human-modified tropical landscapes. *Biotropica* **41**, 142–153.
- CHAZDON, R. L., PERES, C. A., DENT, D., SHEIL, D., LUGO, A. E., LAMB, D., STORK, N. E. & MILLER, S. E. (2009b). The potential for species conservation in tropical secondary forests. *Conservation Biology* 23, 1406–1417.
- CHAZDON, R. L., LETCHER, S. G., VAN BREUGEL, M., MARTÍNEZ-RAMOS, M., BONGERS, F. & FINEGAN, B. (2007). Rates of change in tree communities of secondary Neotropical forests following major disturbances. *Philosophical Transactions* of the Royal Society, B: Biological Sciences 362, 273–289.
- CLARK, D. (1996). Abolishing virginity. Journal of Tropical Ecology 12, 735-739.
- COLE, L. E. S., BHAGWAT, S. A. & WILLIS, K. J. (2014). Recovery and resilience of tropical forests after disturbance. *Nature Communications* 5, 3906.
- COLEY, P. D. & BARONE, J. A. (1996). Herbivory and plant defenses in tropical forests. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 27, 305–335.
- COLLIER, M. J. (2015). Novel ecosystems and social-ecological resilience. Landscape Ecology 30 (8), 1363–1369.
- CORLETT, R. T. (1992). The ecological transformation of Singapore, 1819–1990. Journal of Biogeography 19, 411–420.
- DENT, D. H., DEWALT, S. J. & DENSLOW, J. S. (2013). Secondary forests of central Panama increase in similarity to old-growth forest over time in shade tolerance but not species composition. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 24, 530–542.
- DIDHAM, R. K., KAPOS, V. & EWERS, R. M. (2012). Rethinking the conceptual foundations of habitat fragmentation research. *Oikos* 121, 161–170.
- DIRZO, R., YOUNG, H. S., GALETTI, M., CEBALLOS, G., ISAAC, N. J. B. & COLLEN, B. (2014). Defaunation in the Anthropocene. *Science* 345, 401–406.
- DUNN, R. (2004). Recovery of faunal communities during tropical forest regeneration. Conservation Biology 18, 302–309.
- DUNNING, J. B., DANIELSON, B. J. & PULLIAM, H. R. (1992). Ecological processes that affect populations in complex landscapes. *Oikos* 65, 169–175.
- ELLIS, E. C. (2013). Sustaining biodiversity and people in the world's antropogenic biomes. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 5, 368–372.
- EWERS, R. M. & DIDHAM, R. K. (2006). Confounding factors in the detection of species responses to habitat fragmentation. *Biological Reviews* 81, 117–142.
- EWERS, R. M., DIDHAM, R. K., PEARSE, W. D., LEFEBVRE, V., ROSA, I. M. D., CARREIRAS, J. M. B., LUCAS, R. M. & REUMAN, D. C. (2013). Using landscape history to predict biodiversity patterns in fragmented landscapes. *Ecology Letters* 16, 1221–1233.
- FAHRIG, L. (2013). Rethinking patch size and isolation effects: the habitat amount hypothesis. *Journal of Biogeography* **40**, 1649–1663.
- FAHRIG, L., BAUDRY, J., BROTONS, L., BUREL, F. G., CRIST, T. O., FULLER, R. J., SIRAMI, C., SIRIWARDENA, G. M. & MARTIN, J. L. (2011). Functional landscape heterogeneity and animal biodiversity in agricultural landscapes. *Ecology Letters* 14, 101–112.
- FERRAZ, S. F. B., FERRAZ, K. M. P. M. B., CASSIANO, C. C., BRANCALION, P. H. S., DA LUZ, D. T. A., AZEVEDO, T. N., TAMBOSI, L. R. & METZGER, J. P. (2014). How good are tropical forest patches for ecosystem services provisioning? *Landscape Ecology* 29, 187–200.
- FILGUEIRAS, B. K. C., IANNUZZI, L. & LEAL, I. R. (2011). Habitat fragmentation alters the structure of dung beetle communities in the Atlantic Forest. *Biological Conservation* 144, 362–369.
- FINEGAN, B. (1984). Forest succession. Nature 312, 109-114.

FINEGAN, B. (1996). Pattern and process in Neotropical secondary rain forests: the first 100 years of succession. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 11, 119–124.

- FISCHER, J. & LINDENMAYER, D. B. (2007). Landscape modification and habitat fragmentation: a synthesis. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **16**, 265–280.
- FOLKE, C., CARPENTER, S., WALKER, B., SCHEFFER, M., ELMQVIST, T., GUNDERSON, L. & HOLLING, C. S. (2004). Regime shifts, resilience, and biodiversity in ecosystem management. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 35, 557–581.
- FREEMAN, O. E., DUGUMA, L. A. & MINANG, P. A. (2015). Operationalizing the integrated landscape approach in practice. *Ecology and Society* 20, 24.
- FREITAS, M. A. B., VIEIRA, I. C. G., MANGABEIRA ALBERNAZ, I. L. K., MAGALHÄES, J. L. M. & LEES, A. C. (2015). Floristic impoverishment of Amazonian floodplain forests managed for açaí fruit production. *Forest Ecology and Management* 351, 20–27.
- GARDNER, T. A., BARLOW, J., CHAZDON, R., EWERS, R. M., HARVEY, C. A., PERES, C. A. & SODHI, N. S. (2009). Prospects for tropical forest biodiversity in a human-modified world. *Ecology Letters* 12, 561–582.
- GARDNER, T. A., FERREIRA, J., BARLOW, J., LEES, A. C., PARRY, L., VIEIRA, I. C. G., BERENGUER, E., ABRAMOVAY, R., ALEIXO, A., ANDRETTI, C., ARAGÃO, L. E. O. C., ARAÚJO, I., DE ÁVILA, W. S., BARDGETT, R. D., BATISTELLA, M., et al. (2013). A social and ecological assessment of tropical land uses at multiple scales: the Sustainable Amazon Network. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society, B: Biological Sciences* 368, 20120166.
- GARDNER, T. A., HERNANDEZ, M. I. M., BARLOW, J. & PERES, C. A. (2008). Understanding the biodiversity consequences of habitat change: the value of secondary and plantation forests for Neotropical dung beetles. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 45, 883–893.
- GILLIES, C. S. & ST. CLAIR, C. C. (2010). Functional responses in habitat selection by tropical birds moving through fragmented forest. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 47, 182–190.
- GILROY, J. J., EDWARDS, F. A., MEDINA, C. A., HAUGAASEN, T. & EDWARDS, D. P. (2014a). Surrounding habitats mediate the trade-off between land-sharing and land-sparing agriculture in the tropics. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **51**, 1337–1346.
- GILROY, J. J., WOODCOCK, P., EDWARDS, F. A., WHEELER, C. E., BAPTISTE, B. L. G., MEDINA, C. A., HAUGAASEN, T. & EDWARDS, D. P. (2014b). Cheap carbon and biodiversity co-benefits from forest regeneration in a hotspot of endemism. *Nature Climate Change* 4, 503–507.
- GUARIGUATA, M. R. & OSTERTAG, R. (2001). Neotropical secondary forest succession: changes in structural and functional characteristics. *Forest Ecology and Management* 148, 185–206.
- HANSEN, M. C., POTAPOV, P. V., MOORE, R., HANCHER, M., TURUBANOVA, S. A., TYUKAVINA, A., THAU, D., STEHMAN, S. V., GOETZ, S. J., LOVELAND, T. R., KOMMAREDDY, A., EGOROV, A., CHINI, L., JUSTICE, C. O. & TOWNSHEND, J. R. G. (2013). High-resolution global maps of 21rst-century forest cover change. *Science* 342, 850–853.
- HANSKI, I. (1999). Metapopulation Ecology. Oxford University Press, New York.
- HARRIS, G. M. & PIMM, S. L. (2004). Bird species' tolerance of secondary forest habitats and its effects on extinction. *Conservation Biology* 18, 1607–1616.
- HARVEY, C. A., KOMAR, O., CHAZDON, R., FERGUSON, B. G., FINEGAN, B., GRIFFITH, D. M., MARTÍNEZ-RAMOS, M., MORALES, H., NIGH, R., SOTO-PINTO, L., VAN BREUGEL, M. & WISHNIE, M. (2008). Integrating agricultural landscapes with biodiversity conservation in the Mesoamerican hotspot. *Conservation Biology* 22, 8–15.
- HERNÁNDEZ-ORDÓNEZ, O., URBINA-CARDONA, N. & MARTÍNEZ-RAMOS, M. (2015). Recovery of amphibian and reptile assemblages during old-field succession of tropical rain forests. *Biotropica* 47, 377–388.
- HOBBS, R. J., HIGGS, E. & HARRIS, J. A. (2009). Novel ecosystems: implications for conservation and restoration. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 24, 599–605.
- HOLL, K. D. (1999). Factors limiting tropical rain forest regeneration in abandoned pasture: seed rain, seed germination, microclimate, and soil. *Biotropica* 31, 229–242.
- HOOPER, E. R., LEGENDRE, P. & CONDIT, R. (2004). Factors affecting community composition on forest regeneration in deforested, abandoned land in Panama. *Ecology* 85, 3313–3326.
- HOWE, H. F. & SMALLWOOD, J. (1982). Ecology of seed dispersal. Annual Reviews of Ecology and Systematics 13, 201–228.
- JAKOVAC, C. C., PEÑA-CLAROS, M., KUYPER, T. W. & BONGERS, F. (2015). Loss of secondary-forest resilience by land-use intensification in the Amazon. *Journal of Ecology* 103, 67–77.
- JANZEN, D. H. (1971). Seed predation by animals. Annual Reviews of Ecology and Systematics 2, 465–492.
- LAMB, D., ERSKINE, P. D. & PARROTTA, J. A. (2005). Restoration of degraded tropical forest landscapes. *Science* **310**, 1628–1632.
- LAMBIN, E. F. & MEYFROIDT, P. (2011). Global land use change, economic globalization, and the looming land scarcity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108, 3465–3472.
- LAURANCE, W. F., LOVEJOY, T., VASCONCELOS, H. L., BRUNA, E. M., DIDHAM, R. K., STOUFFER, P. C., GASCON, C., BIERREGAARD, R. O., LAURANCE, S. G. & SAMPAIO, E. (2002). Ecosystem decay of Amazonian forest fragments: a 22 year investigation. *Conservation Biology* 16, 605–618.

- LAURANCE, W. F., NASCIMENTO, H. E. M., LAURANCE, S. G., ANDRADE, A., EWERS, R. M., HARMS, K. E., LUIZÃO, R. C. C. & RIBEIRO, J. E. (2007). Habitat fragmentation, variable edge effects, and the landscape-divergence hypothesis. *PLoS One* 2, e1017.
- LAURANCE, W. F., NASCIMENTO, H. E. M., LAURANCE, S. G., ANDRADE, A., RIBEIRO, J. E. L. S., GIRALDO, J. P., LOVEJOY, T. E., CONDIT, R., CHAVE, J., HARMS, K. E. & D'ANGELO, S. (2006). Rapid decay of tree-community composition in Amazonian forest fragments. *Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 103, 19010–19014.
- LAURANCE, W. F. & PERES, C. A. (2006). *Emerging Threats to Tropical Forests*. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- LAURANCE, W. F., SAYER, J. & CASSMAN, K. G. (2014). Agricultural expansion and its impacts on tropical nature. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 29, 107–116.
- LAWRENCE, D. (2005). Biomass accumulation after 10-200 years of shifting cultivation in Bornean rain forest. *Ecology* 86, 26–33.
- LAWTON, J. H. (1999). Are there general laws in ecology? Oikos 84, 177-192.
- LEAL, L. C., ANDERSEN, A. N. & LEAL, I. R. (2014a). Anthropogenic disturbance reduces seed-dispersal services for myrmecochorous plants in the Brazilian Caatinga. *Oecologia* 174, 173–181.
- LEAL, I. R., WIRTH, R. & TABARELLI, M. (2014b). The multiple impacts of leaf-cutting ants and their novel ecological role in human-modified Neotropical forests. *Biotropica* 46, 516–528.
- LEAL, L. C., ANDERSEN, A. N. & LEAL, I. R. (2015). Disturbance winners or losers? Plants bearing extrafloral nectaries in Brazilian Caatinga. *Biotropica* 47 (4), 468–474.
- LEAL, I. R., FILGUEIRAS, B. K. C., GOMES, J. P., IANNUZZI, L. & ANDERSEN, A. N. (2012). Effects of habitat fragmentation on ant richness and functional composition in Brazilian Atlantic forest. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 21, 1687–1701.
- LEAL, I. R., SILVA, J. M. C., TABARELLI, M. & LACHER, T. E. (2005). Changing the course of biodiversity conservation in the Caatinga of Northeastern Brazil. *Conservation Biology* 19, 701–706.
- LEBRIJA-TREJOS, E., MEAVE, J. A., POORTER, L., PÉREZ-GARCÍA, E. A. & BONGERS, F. (2010a). Pathways, mechanisms and predictability of vegetation change during tropical dry forest succession. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics* 12, 267–275.
- LEBRIJA-TREJOS, E., PÉREZ-GARCÍA, E. A., MEAVE, J. A., BONGERS, F. & POORTER, L. (2010b). Functional traits and environmental filtering drive community assembly in a species-rich tropical system. *Ecology* **91**, 386–398.
- LETCHER, S. G. (2010). Phylogenetic structure of angiosperm communities during tropical forest succession. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B* 277, 97–104.
- LETCHER, S. G. & CHAZDON, R. L. (2009). Rapid recovery of biomass, species richness, and species composition in a forest chronosequence in northeastern Costa Rica. *Biotropica* 41, 608–617.
- LETCHER, S. G., CHAZDON, R. L., ANDRADE, A. C. S., BONGERS, F., VAN BREUGEL, M., FINEGAN, B., LAURANCE, S. G., MESQUITA, R. C. G., MARTÍNEZ-RAMOS, M. & WILLIAMSON, G. B. (2012). Phylogenetic community structure during succession: evidence from three Neotropical forest sites. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics* 14, 79–87.
- LINDELL, C. A., CHOMENTOWSKI, W. H. & ZOOK, J. R. (2004). Characteristics of bird species using forest and agricultural land covers in southern Costa Rica. *Biodiversity* and Conservation 13, 2419–2441.
- LINDENMAYER, D., HOBBS, R. J., MONTAGUE-DRAKE, R., ALEXANDRA, J., BENNETT, A., BURGMAN, M., CALE, P., CALHOUN, A., CRAMER, V., CULLEN, P., DRISCOLL, D., FAHRIG, L., FISCHER, J., FRANKLIN, J., HAILA, Y., et al. (2008). A checklist for ecological management of landscapes for conservation. *Ecology Letters* 11, 78–91.
- Lôbo, D., LEÃO, T., MELO, F. P. L., SANTOS, A. M. M. & TABARELLI, M. (2011). Forest fragmentation drives Atlantic forest of northeastern Brazil to biotic homogenization. *Diversity and Distributions* 17, 287–296.
- LOHBECK, M., POORTER, L., MARTÍNEZ-RAMOS, M. & BONGERS, F. (2015). Biomass is the main driver of changes in ecosystem process rates during tropical forest succession. *Ecology* 96, 1242–1252.
- MACARTHUR, R. H. & WILSON, E. O. (1967). The Theory of Island Biogeography. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- MARTENSEN, A. C., RIBEIRO, M. C., BANKS-LEITE, C., PRADO, P. I. & METZGER, J. P. (2012). Associations of forest cover, fragment area and connectivity with Neotropical understory bird species richness and abundance. *Conservation Biology* 26, 1100–1111.
- MARTIN, P. A., NEWTON, A. C. & BULLOCK, J. M. (2013). Carbon pools recover more quickly than plant biodiversity in tropical secondary forests. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B* 280, 20132236.
- MARTORELL, C. & PETERS, E. (2005). The measurement of chronic disturbance and its effects on the threatened cactus *Mammillaria pectinifera*. *Biological Conservation* 124, 199–207.
- MAY-TOBIN, C. (2011). Wood for fuel. In *The Root of the Problem:What is Driving Tropical Deforestation Today?* (eds D. BOUCHER, E. PIPA, K. LININGER, C. MAY-TOBIN, S. ROQUEMORE and E. SAXON), pp. 367–383. Blackwell, Malden.
- MEINERS, S. J., CADOTTE, M. W., FRIDLEY, J. D., PICKETT, S. T. A. & WALKER, L. R. (2015). Is successional research nearing its climax? New approaches for understanding dynamic communities. *Functional Ecology* 29, 154–164.

- MELO, F. P. L., ARROYO-RODRÍGUEZ, V., FAHRIG, L., MARTÍNEZ-RAMOS, M. & TABARELLI, M. (2013). On the hope for biodiversity-friendly tropical landscapes. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 28, 461–468.
- MENDENHALL, C. D., KARP, D. S., MEYER, C. F. J., HADLY, E. A. & DAILY, G. C. (2014). Predicting biodiversity change and averting collapse in agricultural landscapes. *Nature* 509, 213–217.
- MESQUITA, R. C. G., ICKES, K., GANADE, G. & WILLIAMSON, G. B. (2001). Alternative successional pathways in the Amazon Basin. *Journal of Ecology* 89, 528–537.
- MEYER, S. T., LEAL, I. R. & WIRTH, R. (2009). Persisting hyper-abundance of leaf-cutting ants (*Atta* spp.) at the edge of an old Atlantic Forest Fragment. *Biotropica* 41, 711–716.
- MEYER, S. T., NEUBAUER, M., SAYER, E. J., LEAL, I. R., TABARELLI, M. & WIRTH, R. (2013). Leaf-cutting ants as ecosystem engineers: topsoil and litter perturbations around *Atta cephalotes* nests reduce nutrient availability. *Ecological Entomology* 38, 497–504.
- MORAN, E. F., BRONDIZIO, E., TUCKER, J. M., DA SILVA-FOSBERG, M. C., MCCRACKEN, S. & FALESI, I. (2000). Effects of soil fertility and land-use on forest succession in Amazonia. *Forest Ecology and Management* 139, 93–108.
- MORANTE-FILHO, J. C., FARIA, D., MARIANO-NETO, E. & RHODES, J. (2015). Birds in anthropogenic landscapes: the responses of ecological groups to forest loss in the Brazilian Atlantic forest. *PLoS One* **10**, e0128923.
- MORO, F., MARTÍNEZ-RAMOS, M., IBARRA-MANRÍQUEZ, G., PÉREZ-JIMÉNEZ, A., TRILLERAS, J. & BALVANERA, P. (2015). Testing chronosequences through dynamic approaches: time and site effects on tropical dry forest succession. *Biotropica* 47, 38–48.
- MOUTINHO, P. R. S. (1998). Impactos da formação de pastagem sobre fauna de formigas: conseqüência para a recuperação florestal na Amazônia oriental. In *Floresta Amazônica:dinâmica, regeneração e manejo* (eds C. GASCON and P. R. S. MOUTINHO), pp. 155–170. UFAM, Manaus.
- MURCIA, C. (1995). Edge effects in fragmented forests: implications for conservation. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **10**, 58–62.
- NORDEN, N., ANGARITA, H. A., BONGERS, F., MARTÍNEZ-RAMOS, M., GRANZOW-DE LA CERDA, I., VAN BREUGEL, M., LEBRIJA-TREJOS, E., MEAVE, J. A., VANDERMEER, J., WILLIAMSON, G. B., FINEGAN, B., MESQUITA, R. & CHAZDON, R. L. (2015). Successional dynamics in Neotropical forests are as uncertain as they are predictable. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112, 8013–8018.
- NORDEN, N., CHAZDON, R. L., CHAO, A., JIANG, Y. H. & VILCHEZ-ALVARADO, B. (2009). Resilience of tropical rain forests: tree community reassembly in secondary forests. *Ecology Letters* 12, 385–394.
- NORDEN, N., MESQUITA, R. C. G., BENTOS, T. V., CHAZDON, R. L. & WILLIAMSON, G. B. (2011). Contrasting community compensatory trends in alternative successional pathways in central Amazonia. *Oikos* **120**, 143–151.
- **OSTROM**, E. (2009). A general framework for analyzing sustainability of social-ecological systems. *Science* **325**, 419–422.
- PAPACHRISTOU, T. G. & PLATIS, P. D. (2011). The impact of cattle and goats grazing on vegetation in oak stands of varying coppicing age. Acta Oecologica 37, 16–22.
- PARDINI, R., DE ARRUDA BUENO, A., GARDNER, T. A., PRADO, P. I. & METZGER, J. P. (2010). Beyond the fragmentation threshold hypothesis: regime shifts in biodiversity across fragmented landscapes. *PLoS One* 5, e13666.
- PARRY, L., BARLOW, J. & PERES, C. A. (2009). Hunting for sustainability in tropical secondary forests. *Conservation Biology* 23, 1270–1280.
- PARRY, L., DAY, B., AMARAL, S. & PERES, C. A. (2010). Drivers of rural exodus from Amazonian headwaters. *Population and Environment* **32**, 137–176.
- PEÑA-CUELLAR, E., STONER, K. E., AVILA-CABADILLA, L. D., MARTÍNEZ-RAMOS, M. & ESTRADA, A. (2012). Phyllostomid bat assemblages in different successional stages of tropical rain forest in Chiapas, Mexico. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 21, 1381–1397.
- PERFECTO, I., VANDERMEER, J. & WRIGHT, A. (2009). Nature's Matrix: Linking Agriculture, Conservation and Food Sovereignty. Earthscan, London.
- PICKETT, S. T. A., COLLINS, S. L. & ARMESTO, J. J. (1987). Models, mechanisms and pathways of succession. *Botanical Reviews* **53**, 335–371.
- POWERS, J. S. & PERÉZ-AVILES, D. (2013). Edaphic factors are a more important control on fine root stocks than stand age in tropical dry forests regenerating following agricultural land use. *Biotropica* 45, 1–9.
- PRACH, K. & WALKER, L. R. (2011). Four opportunities for studies of ecological succession. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 26, 119–123.
- PRIMACK, R. B. & MIAO, S. L. (1992). Dispersal can limit local plant distribution. Conservation Biology 6, 513–519.
- PÜTTKER, T., BUENO, A. A., PRADO, P. I. & PARDINI, R. (2015). Ecological filtering or random extinction? Beta-diversity patterns and the importance of niche-based and neutral processes following habitat loss. *Oikos* 124, 206–215.
- PUTZ, S., GROENEVELD, J., ALVES, L. F., METZGER, J. P. & HUTH, A. (2011). Fragmentation drives tropical forest fragments to early successional states: a modelling study for Brazilian Atlantic forests. *Ecological Modelling* 222, 1986–1997.
- QUEZADA, M. L., ARROYO-RODRÍGUEZ, V., PÉREZ-SILVA, E. & AIDE, T. M. (2014). Land cover changes in the Lachuá region, Guatemala: patterns, proximate causes,

and underlying driving forces over the last 50 years. *Regional Environmental Change* 14, 1139–1149.

- RÉJOU-MÉCHAIN, M., FLORES, O., PÉLISSIER, R., FAYOLLE, A., FAUVET, N. & GOURLET-FLEURY, S. (2014). Tropical tree assembly depends on the interactions between successional and soil filtering processes. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 23, 1440–1449.
- REY BENAYAS, J. M., MARTINS, A., NICOLAU, J. M. & SCHULZ, J. J. (2007). Abandonment of agricultural land: an overview of drivers and consequences. *Perspectives in Agriculture, Veterinary Science, Nutrition and Natural Resources* 2 (057), 1–14.
- REYER, C. P. O., BROUWERS, N., RAMMIG, A., BROOK, B. W., EPILA, J., GRANT, R. F., HOLMGREN, M., LANGERWISCH, F., LEUZINGER, S., LUCHT, W., MEDLYN, B., PFEIFER, M., STEINKAMP, J., VANDERWEL, M. C., VERBEECK, H. & VILLELA, D. M. (2015). Forest resilience and tipping points at different spatio-temporal scales: approaches and challenges. *Journal of Ecology* 103, 5–15.
- RIBEIRO, E. M. S., ARROYO-RODRÍGUEZ, V., SANTOS, B. A., TABARELLI, M. & LEAL, I. (2015). Chronic anthropogenic disturbance drives the biological impoverishment of the Brazilian caatinga vegetation. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 52, 611–620.
- RICKLEFS, R. E. (2004). A comprehensive framework for global patterns in biodiversity. *Ecology Letters* 7, 1–15.
- ROZENDAAL, D. A. & CHAZDON, R. L. (2015). Demographic drivers of tree biomass change during secondary succession in northeastern Costa Rica. *Ecological Applications* 25, 506–516.
- SANDOR, M. E. & CHAZDON, R. L. (2014). Remnant trees affect species composition but not structure of tropical second-growth forest. *PLoS One* **9**, e83284.
- SANTOS, B. A., PERES, C. A., OLIVEIRA, M. A., GRILLO, A., ALVES-COSTA, C. P. & TABARELLI, M. (2008). Drastic erosion in functional attributes of tree assemblages in Atlantic forest fragments of northeastern Brazil. *Biological Conservation* 141, 249–260.
- SANTOS, B. A., TABARELLI, M., MELO, F. P. L., CAMARGO, J. L. C., ANDRADE, A., LAURANCE, S. G. & LAURANCE, W. F. (2014). Phylogenetic impoverishment of Amazonian tree communities in an experimentally fragmented forest landscape. *PLoS One* 9, e113109.
- SAUNDERS, D. A., HOBBS, R. J. & MARGULES, C. R. (1991). Biological consequences of ecosystem fragmentation: a review. *Conservation Biology* 5, 18–32.
- SCHEFFER, M. (2009). Critical Transitions in Nature and Society. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- SCHNITZER, S. A., DALLING, J. W. & CARSON, W. P. (2000). The impact of lianas on tree regeneration in tropical forest canopy gaps: evidence for an alternative pathway of gap-phase regeneration. *Journal of Ecology* 88, 655–666.
- SHANKAR-RAMAN, T. R., RAWAT, G. S. & JOHNSINGH, A. J. T. (1998). Recovery of tropical rainforest avifauna in relation to vegetation succession following shifting cultivation in Mizoram, north-east India. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 35, 214–231.
- SHEIL, D. (1999). Developing tests of successional hypotheses with size-structured populations, and an assessment using long-term data from a Ugandan rain forest. *Plant Ecology* 140, 117–127.
- SILVA, P. S. D., LEAL, I. R., WIRTH, R., MELO, F. P. L. & TABARELLI, M. (2012). Leaf-cutting ants alter seedling assemblages across second-growth stands of Brazilian Atlantic forest. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 28, 361–368.
- SILVA, J. M. C. & TABARELLI, M. (2000). Tree species impoverishment and the future flora of the Atlantic forest of northeast Brazil. *Nature* 404, 72–74.
- SINGH, S. P. (1998). Chronic disturbance, a principal cause of environmental degradation in developing countries. *Environmental Conservation* 25, 1–2.
- SLIK, F., ARROYO-RODRÍGUEZ, V., AIBA, S.-I., ALVAREZ-LOAYZA, P., ALVES, L. F., ASHTON, P., BALVANERA, P., BASTIAN, M. L., BELLINGHAM, P. J., VAN DEN BERG, E., BERNACCI, L., DA CONCEIÇÃO BISPO, P., BLANC, L., BÖHNING-GAESE, K., BOECKX, P., et al. (2015). An estimate of the number of tropical tree species. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 112, 7472–7477.
- SLOCUM, M. G., AIDE, T. M., ZIMMERMAN, J. K. & NAVARRO, L. (2004). Natural regeneration of subtropical montane forest after clearing fern thickets in the Dominican Republic. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 20, 483–486.
- SODHI, N. S., BUTLER, R., LAURANCE, W. F. & GIBSON, L. (2011). Conservation successes at micro-, meso- and macroscales. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 26, 585–594.
- SPECHT, M. J., PINTO, S. R. R., ALBUQUEQUE, U. P., TABARELLI, M. & MELO, F. P. L. (2015). Burning biodiversity: fuelwood harvesting causes forest degradation in human-dominated tropical landscapes. *Global Ecology and Conservation* 3, 200–209.
- STEININGER, M. K. (2000). Secondary forest structure and biomass following short and extended land-use in central and southern Amazonia. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 16, 689–708.
- STONER, K., RIBA-HERNÁNDEZ, P., VULINEC, K. & LAMBERT, J. (2007). The role of mammals in creating and modifying seedshadows in tropical forests and some possible consequences of their elimination. *Biotropica* 39, 316–327.
- SUAZO-ORDUÑO, I., LOPEZ-TOLEDO, L., ALVARADO-DÍAZ, J. & MARTÍNEZ-RAMOS, M. (2015). Land-use change dynamics, soil type and species forming mono-dominant patches: the case of *Pteridium aquilinum* in a Neotropical rain forest region. *Biotropica* 47, 18–26.
- TABARELLI, M., AGUIAR, A. V., RIBEIRO, M. C., METZGER, J. P. & PERES, C. A. (2010). Prospects for biodiversity conservation in the Atlantic Forest: lessons from aging human-modified landscapes. *Biological Conservation* 143, 2328–2340.

- TABARELLI, M., LOPES, A. V. & PERES, C. A. (2008). Edge-effects drive forest fragments towards an early-successional system. *Biotropica* 40, 657–661.
- TABARELLI, M., PERES, C. A. & MELO, F. P. L. (2012). The 'few winners and many losers' paradigm revisited: emerging prospects for tropical forest biodiversity. *Biological Conservation* 155, 136–140.
- TERBORGH, J., FOSTER, R. B. & NÚÑEZ, V. P. (1996). Tropical tree communities: a test of the non equilibrium hypothesis. *Ecology* 77, 561–567.
- TSCHARNTKE, T., TYLIANAKIS, J. M., RAND, T. A., DIDHAM, R. K., FAHRIG, L., BATÁRY, P., BENGTSSON, J., CLOUGH, Y., CRIST, T. O., DORMANN, C. F., EWERS, R. M., FRÜND, J., HOLT, R. D., HOLZSCHUH, A., KLEIN, A. M., et al. (2012). Landscape moderation of biodiversity patterns and processes – eight hypotheses. *Biological Reviews* 87, 661–685.
- TURNER, M. G. (1989). Landscape ecology: the effect of pattern on process. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 20, 171–197.
- TURNER, I. M., CHUA, K. S., ONG, J. S., SOONG, B. C. & TAN, H. T. W. (1996). A century of plant species loss from an isolated fragment of lowland tropical rain forest. *Conservation Biology* **10**, 1229–1244.
- TURNER, I. M., TAN, H. T. W., WEE, W. C., BIN IBRAHIM, A., CHEW, P. T. & CORLETT, R. T. (1994). A study of plant species extinction in Singapore: lessons for the conservation of tropical biodiversity. *Conservation Biology* 8, 705–712.
- TURNER, I. M., WONG, Y. K., CHEW, P. T. & BIN IBRAHIM, A. (1997). Tree species richness in primary and old secondary tropical forest in Singapore. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 6, 537–543.

- United Nations (2011). World Urbanization Prospects: The 2011 Revision. United Nations, New York.
- URBAS, P., ARAÚJO, M. V., LEAL, I. R. & WIRTH, R. (2007). Cutting more from cut forests: edge effects on foraging and herbivory of leaf-cutting ants in Brazil. *Biotropica* 39, 489–495.
- VASCONCELOS, H. L. (1999). Effects of forest disturbance on the structure of ground-foraging ant communities in central Amazonia. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 8, 409–420.
- VILLARD, M. A. & METZGER, J. P. (2014). Beyond the fragmentation debate: a conceptual model to predict when habitat configuration really matters. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 51, 309–318.
- WANG, B. C. & SMITH, T. B. (2002). Closing the seed dispersal loop. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 17, 379–385.
- WIJDEVEN, S. M. & KUZEE, M. E. (2000). Seed availability as a limiting factor in forest recovery processes in Costa Rica. *Restaration Ecology* 8, 414–424.
- WOODS, C. L. & DEWALT, J. J. (2013). The conservation value of secondary forests for vascular epiphytes in central Panama. *Biotropica* 45, 119–127.
- WRIGHT, S. J. & MULLER-LANDAU, H. C. (2006). The uncertain future of tropical forest species. *Biotropica* 38, 443–445.
- WRIGHT, S. J., ZEBALLOS, H., DOMÍNGUEZ, I., GALLARDO, M. M., MORENO, M. C. & IBÁÑEZ, R. R. (2000). Poachers alter mammal abundance, seed dispersal, and seed predation in a Neotropical forest. *Conservation Biology* 14, 227–239.

(Received 16 March 2015; revised 18 September 2015; accepted 25 September 2015)